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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CHRISTY BITZKO, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated, Civil Action No.: 1:17-CV-0458 (BKS/D]S)

Plaintiff,

CLASSACTION COMPLAINT

WELTMAN, WEINBERG & REIS CO.,
LPA, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant(s).

Plaintiff CHRISTY BITZKO, by and through her attorneys, Law Offices of Stuart
Werbin, hereby brings this Class Action Complaint against Defendant WELTMAN,
WEINBERG & REIS CO., LPA, individually and on behalf of aclass of al others
similarly situated, pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, based
upon information and belief of Plaintiff’s counsel, except for allegations specifically
pertaining to Plaintiff, which are based upon Plaintiff’s personal knowledge.

INTRODUCTION

1. Thisisan action for damages brought by a consumer for violations of the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq. (hereafter the
“FDCPA”). The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in abusive,
deceptive, and unfair collection practices.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has origina jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1331 and 28 U.S.C.
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§ 1343. Venueis properly in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §8§(b)(2) and (b)(3),
because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this
judicial district, and Defendant is subject to this Court’s personal jurisdiction
with respect to this action.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff, Christy Bitzko, is an adult residing in Schenectady, NY .

4. Defendant Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA isalaw firm regularly
engaged in the business of collecting debts in this State with its principal place
of business located at 965 Keynote Circle, Brooklyn Heights, OH 44131. The
principa purpose of Defendant is the collection of debts using the mails and
telephone, and Defendant regularly attempts to collect debts alleged to be due
another.

5. Defendant is a*“debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) of the
FDCPA.

6. Plaintiff isa*“consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) of the FDCPA.

CLASSALLEGATIONS

7. Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of the following, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ.
P. 23(a) and 23(b)(3).

8. TheClass consists of (a) al individuals nationwide to whom Weltman,
Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA mailed collection letters (b) which misrepresent
that the letters are from attorneys and that attorneys were meaningfully
involved, when the attorneys were not meaningfully involved in preparing and

sending the letters; and which contain no disclaimer concerning Weltman,
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Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA’s lack of meaningful attorney involvement in the
collection of these consumers’ aleged debts; (c) which explicitly or implicitly
threaten unintended legal action; (d) which were sent on or after a date one year
prior to the filing of this action and on or before a date 21 days after the filing
of this action.

9. Theidentities of al class members are readily ascertainable from the records of
Defendant and those companies and entities on whose behalf it attemptsto
collect and/or has purchased debts.

10. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Classes, which
common issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class
members. The principal issue is whether the Defendant’s written
communications to consumers, in the form attached as Exhibit A, violate 15
U.S.C. § 1692e.

11. The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the class members, as all are based upon
the same facts and legal theories.

12. The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Plaintiff
Classes defined in this complaint. The Plaintiffs have retained counsel with
experience in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class
actions, and neither the Plaintiffs nor their attorneys have any interests, which
might cause them not to vigorously pursue this action.

13. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action
pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federa Rules of Civil Procedure

because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation:
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(@ Numerosity: The Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis
allege, that the Plaintiff Classes defined above are so numerous that joinder of
all members would be impractical.

(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and fact
exist asto all members of the Plaintiff Classes and those questions predominate
over any questions or issues involving only individual class members. The
principal issue is whether the Defendant’s written communications to
consumers, in the form attached as Exhibit A, violate 15 U.S.C. 88 1692e.

(o) Typicality: The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the class
members. The Plaintiffs and all members of the Plaintiff Classes have claims
arising out of the Defendant’s common uniform course of conduct complained
of herein.

(d) Adequacy: The Plaintiffswill fairly and adequately protect the interests
of the class members insofar as Plaintiffs have no interests that are adverse to
the absent class members. The Plaintiffs are committed to vigorously litigating
this matter. Plaintiffs have also retained counsel experienced in handling
consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions. Neither the
Plaintiffs nor their counsel have any interests which might cause them not to
vigorously pursue the instant class action lawsuit.

(e) Superiority: A classaction is superior to the other available means for the
fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because individual joinder of
all members would be impracticable. Class action treatment will permit alarge

number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their common clamsin a
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

single forum efficiently and without unnecessary duplication of effort and
expense that individual actions would engender.

Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to
members of the Plaintiff Classes predominate over any questions affecting an
individual member, and a class action is superior to other available methods for
the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

Depending on the outcome of further investigation and discovery, Plaintiffs
may, at the time of class certification motion, seek to certify a class(es) only as

to particular issues pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4).

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
15 herein.

Defendant Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA (*“WWR?”) attempted to
collect adebt alegedly owed by Plaintiff relating to consumer purchases
allegedly owed to National Collegiate Student Loan Trust.

The debt at issue arises out of an alleged transaction which was primarily for
personal, family or household purposes and falls within the definition of “debt”
for purposes of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5).

Defendant sent Plaintiff an initial dunning letter dated August 11, 2016. This
letter is attached as Exhibit A.

This letter was written on Defendant’s letterhead which clearly states that

WWRisalaw firm.
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21. Thisletter is not signed by any individual. It ssmply states, “Sincerely,
Weltman, Weinberg & Reis, L.P.A.”

22. Plaintiff’s account was not actually reviewed by any attorney.

23. Defendant, acting as alaw firm, has not had any meaningful involvement in the
collection of Plaintiff’s alleged debt.

24. Defendant misleads consumers into believing that its letters are from an
attorney, acting as an attorney, and that there is meaningful attorney
involvement in the collection of the alleged debt.

25. Defendant’s letters do not contain any disclaimer concerning the Defendant’s
lack of meaningful attorney involvement in the collection of Plaintiff’s alleged
debt.

26. The least sophisticated consumer would likely be deceived into believing that
this letter is from an attorney, acting as an attorney.

27. Defendant’s letter to Plaintiff would also be viewed by the least sophisticated
consumer as an implied threat of legal action if the alleged debt is not paid.

28. Defendant never intended to commence any legal action against Plaintiff.

29. Defendant has not initiated any legal action against Plaintiff.

30. Thus, Defendant falsely raised the specter of potential legal action, in violation
of the FDCPA.

31. Defendant knew or should have known that its actions violated the FDCPA.
Additionally, Defendant could have taken the steps necessary to bring its
actions within compliance with the FDCPA, but neglected to do so and failed to

adequately review its actions to ensure compliance with said laws.
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32.

33.

34

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

At all times pertinent hereto, Defendant was acting by and through its agents,
servants and/or employees, who were acting within the scope and course of
their employment, and under the direct supervision and control of the
Defendant herein.

At all times pertinent hereto, the conduct of Defendant, as well asthat of its
agents, servants and/or employees, was malicious, intentional, willful, reckless,
negligent and in wanton disregard for federal law and the rights of the Plaintiff

herein.

. Asaresult of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has sustained actual damages

including, but not limited to, emotional and mental pain and anguish.
Defendant’s actions as described herein are part of a pattern and practice used
to collect consumer debts.

CLAIMSFORRELIEF
(Fair Debt Collection Practices Act)

Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
35 herein.

The above contacts between Defendant and Plaintiff were “communications”
relating to a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2) and 1692a(5) of the
FDCPA.

Defendant violated provisions of the FDCPA, including, but not limited to, the
following:

The FDCPA 8§ 1692¢(3) prohibits the fal se representation that any
communication is from an attorney. 8 1692¢(5) prohibits threatening to take

any action that is not intended to be taken. § 1692¢(10) prohibits any false
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representation or deceptive meansto collect adebt. By usingitslaw firm
letterhead, and stating that it was alaw firm, without clarifying that it was not
acting in its capacity as alaw firm, but merely as a debt collector, Defendant
falsely implied meaningful attorney involvement, falsely represented that it was
acting initslegal capacity and falsely raised the specter of potential legal
action, in violation of the FDCPA.

40. The above violations of § 1692e are also violations of § 1692f, as they
constitute engaging in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to
collect any debt.

41. Asaresult of the above violations of the FDCPA, Defendant is liable to
Plaintiff for actual damages, statutory damages which can be up to $1,000.00,
attorney’s fees and costs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered against
Defendant as follows:

(a) Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and
certifying Plaintiff as Class representative, and Stuart D. Werbin, Esg. as
Class Counssl;

(b) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class actual damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
1692k (a)(1);

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class statutory damages pursuant to 15

U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2)(A);
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(d) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class costs and reasonable attorney’s fees
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 8 1692k(a)(3);

(e) Awarding pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest; and

(f) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such other and further relief as may be
just and proper.

Dated: April 25, 2017
Brooklyn, New Y ork
L aw Offices of Stuart Werbin

By: /9 Suart D. Werbin
Stuart D. Werbin, Esqg.
1615 Avenue |, Ste. 519
Brooklyn, NY 11230
Tel (646) 942-7464
Fax (347) 710-1015
swerbin@werbinlaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

Plaintiff hereby requests atria by jury.

Dated: April 25, 2017 /s Suart D. Werbin
Stuart D. Werbin, Esqg.
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WELTMAN, WEINBERG & REIS Co., LPA,

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

— ~ ~ Ovur 80 Yearyof Ssivics,

3705 Marlanc Drive Grove City, OH 43123-8895
(614) 801-2600 (800) 223-2070
Mon-Thurs 8AM-9PM, Fri BAM-5PM, & Sat 8AM-12PM EST

August 11, 2016

CHRISTY L BITZKO
3022 EVELYN DR
SCHENECTADY NY 123034602

RE:  Cument Creditor: NATIONAL GOLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2007-2
Origingl Creditor; CITIZENS ONE
Ascount No, - XXX705322-002-PHEA
WWR No.:
Balance Due as of August 11, 2016; $13,760.28

Acoount Charge-off Date: 02/01/2016

Total Amount Due at Charga-off: $13,359.96
Total Interest Charged Since Charge-off: $390.42
Total Charges and Fess Since Charge-off: $.00
Total Paymeni(s) Made Since Chargesoff. .00

Dear CHRISTY L BITZKO:

Pleass be advised that the above refsrencad account has been placed with us to coflect the outstanding balance due and owing on this account ta
the current creditor referenced above. As of the date of this letter you owe the amount listsd above, Therefore, it Is Imporiant that you contact us at 1-
800-223-2070 to discuss an appropriale resolution fox this matter, Additionally, you may be able to pay on your acoqunt enling vis our vieb pay

website al wwawrnvrepay.com.

This communication is from a dabt collector aftempting to colfect this debl for the cumrent creditor and any information obtained will be used for that
purpose. Uniass you dispute the valkiity of this debt, or any portion thereaf, within thirly (30) days after receipt of this latter, we will assume that the
deblis valid, If you notify us in wiiting within e thirty (30) day period that the deb, or any portion thereof, is disputed, we will obtaln verfication of the
debtor & copy of a judgment and a copy of stich vexification or judgment will be malted to you. If you request in writing within the thirty (30} day period,
we will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor if different from the current creditor,

Thank you for your altention to this matter,

Sincerely,

Wellman, Weinberg & Rels Co., LPA

PLEASE SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATYION ABOUT YOUR RIGHTS

240NY/ELTO1623
*“To tecalivé proper Credit on your scoount, please delach (ha baltom portion and retum with yout payentin the enciosed envelope'™




Case 1:17-cv-00458-B|6§|\I?|]E mgﬁéElﬁled 04/25/17 Page 1 of 1

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

. (@ PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS
Christy Bitzko, individually and behalf of all others similarly situated, Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA

JS 44 (Rev. 07/16)

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff ~ Albany
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

NOTE:

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)

Law Offices of Stuart Werbin, 1615 Avenue |, Ste 519, Brooklyn, NY
11230, (646) 942-7464

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) I1l. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)
O 1 U.S. Government X 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State a1 O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 04 04
of Business In This State
3 2 U.S. Government O 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State a2 O 2 Incorporated and Principal Place g5 A3dsb
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item I11) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a o3 O 3 Foreign Nation a6 06
Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only)
| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES ]
3 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 O 375 False Claims Act
0 120 Marine 0 310 Airplane O 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |3 423 Withdrawal 3 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
3 130 Miller Act O 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
0 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability 0 367 Health Care/ 0 400 State Reapportionment
3 150 Recovery of Overpayment |3 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS O 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 0 820 Copyrights 0 430 Banks and Banking
O 151 Medicare Act O 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 450 Commerce
0 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 0 368 Asbestos Personal 0 840 Trademark 0 460 Deportation
Student Loans O 340 Marine Injury Product O 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) [ 345 Marine Product Liability LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY. Corrupt Organizations
O 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY |3 710 Fair Labor Standards 3 861 HIA (1395ff) X 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Other Fraud Act 3 862 Black Lung (923) 3 490 Cable/Sat TV
3 160 Stockholders’ Suits O 355 Motor Vehicle O 371 Truth in Lending O 720 Labor/Management O 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) | O 850 SecuritiessCommodities/
0 190 Other Contract Product Liability 3 380 Other Personal Relations 0 864 SSID Title XVI Exchange
3 195 Contract Product Liability |3 360 Other Personal Property Damage O 740 Railway Labor Act 3 865 RSI (405(qg)) 3 890 Other Statutory Actions
0 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage 3 751 Family and Medical 0 891 Agricultural Acts
3 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability Leave Act O 893 Environmental Matters
Medical Malpractice 3 790 Other Labor Litigation 3 895 Freedom of Information
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS |3 791 Employee Retirement FEDERAL TAX SUITS Act
0 210 Land Condemnation O 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: Income Security Act 0 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff 0 896 Arbitration
3 220 Foreclosure 0 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee or Defendant) O 899 Administrative Procedure
3 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment O 442 Employment O 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party Act/Review or Appeal of
3 240 Torts to Land 0 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision
3 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations O 530 General O 950 Constitutionality of
3 290 All Other Real Property 0O 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Statutes
Employment Other: 0 462 Naturalization Application
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | 3 540 Mandamus & Other |3 465 Other Immigration
Other 0 550 Civil Rights Actions
O 448 Education 3 555 Prison Condition
3 560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of
Confinement

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X’” in One Box Only)

X1 Original 3 2 Removed from A 3 Remanded from O 4 Reinstated or 3 5 Transferred from 3 6 Multidistrict O 8 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation - Litigation -
(specify) Transfer Direct File

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 USC 1692 et seq

Brief description of cause: ) )
Violations of Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

VIlI. REQUESTED IN (A CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.CV.P. JURY DEMAND: X Yes I No
VII RELATED CASE(S)
truct :
IF ANY (See nstructions): 5 )pGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
04/25/2017 /s/ Stuart D. Werbin
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECE(I)P%'Q6_3994851AMOUNT $400.00 APPLYING IFP woee BKS MAG. JUDGE DJS

Case No.: 1:17-CV-0458



ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Déavu: Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co. in Another FDCPA Class Action



https://www.classaction.org/news/dj-vu-weltman-weinberg-reis-co-in-another-fdcpa-class-action



